A role of phospholipase C isozymes in H₂O₂induced oxidative stress of rat aortic smooth muscle cells

Juyong Lee

Department of Medicine

The Graduate School, Yonsei University

A role of phospholipase C isozymes in H₂O₂induced oxidative stress of rat aortic smooth muscle cells

Directed by Professor Yangsoo Jang

The Master's Thesis submitted to the Department of Medicine, the Graduate School of Yonsei University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Medical Science

Juyong Lee

June 2002

This certifies that the Master's Thesis of Juyong Lee is

approved.

(Supervisory committee, Chairman)

(Supervisory committee)

(Supervisory committee)

The Graduate School

Yonsei University

June, 2002

Acknowledgements

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to Prof. Yangsoo Jang for his teaching and advice, to Prof. Sang-Ho cho for his consideration and concern. I give a special note of thanks to Prof. Ki-Chul Hwang and his colleagues in the Cardiovascular Research Institute of Yonsei University for many informative simulating discussion and kindness. I gratefully acknowledge the endless care and encouragement given me by my teachers, Prof. Sung-Soon Kim, Prof. Seung-Yun Cho, Prof. Kyung-Hoon Choe, Prof. Namsik Chung, Prof. Keum- Soo Park, Prof. Jung-Han Yoon, Prof. Hyuck-Moon Kwon, Prof. Dong-Soo Kim, Prof. Jong-won Ha, Prof. Bum-Kee Hong, and Prof. Dong-Hoon Choi.

Finally, I thank God for His grace that gave me an opportunities, and my wife, Mejeong Lee, for being beside me with love.

Contents

List of Figures	3
ABSTRACT	4
I. INTRODUCTION	• 6
II. METHODS	13
1. Isolation of neonatal rat cardiomyocytes	13
2. Cell survival and prolifration assay	- 14
3. Treatment of Cells with hydrogen peroxide	· 15
4. Ca ²⁺ measurement	• 15
5. Imaging of Intracellular ROS generation	16
6. Immunoblot analysis	- 16
III. RESULTS	• 17
1. Effect of H_2O_2 concentration on the proliferation of RASMCs	- 17
2. Increase of intracellular Ca ²⁺ in H ₂ O ₂ -stimulated RASMCs	7
3. Differential expression of PLC isozymes in H ₂ O ₂ -stimulated RASMCs	21
4. Inhibitory effect of PLC- $\delta 1$ on protein kinase C activation	21
5. Suppression of PLC- δ 1 in ionophore-treated RASMCs	25

V. CONCLUSIONS	29
REFERENCES	30

List of Figures

Figure 1. Redox-sensitive signal pathways in vascular cells9)
Figure 2. General of intracellular Ca ²⁺ signals	11
Figure 3. Effect of H_2O_2 concentration on the proliferation of RASMCs	19
Figure 4. Photograph of intracellular ROS induced with extracellular H_2O_2 2	20
Figure 5. Effect of H_2O_2 on the intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration	22
Figure 6. The expression patterns of PLC isozymes in H_2O_2 -treated RASMCs-2	3
Figure 7. Effect of extracellular H_2O_2 on PKC activity in RASMCs2	24
Figure 8. Effect of ionophore on expression of PLC isozymes2	6

ABSTRACT

A role of phospholipase C isozymes in H₂O₂-induced oxidative stress of rat

aortic smooth muscle cells

Juyong Lee

The Graduate School of Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Yangsoo Jang)

Backgroung Intracellular calcium ions ($[Ca^{2+}]_i$) have an important function in modulating the contractility of all kinds of muscle, including vascular smooth muscle cells. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) can induce Ca²⁺-overload by directly affecting the Ca²⁺ handling proteins. Little is known that phospholipase C (PLC) isozymes are involved in the Ca²⁺-overload induced by ROS in smooth muscle cells.

Methods and Results $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ response to exogenous H_2O_2 and ionopore A23187 was measured using the fluorescent probe, fura2-AM, in rat aortic smooth muscle cells(RASMCs). The differential expression levels of PLC isozymes were measured in cells exposed actually with H_2O_2 and ionopore. The subsequent signaling cascades related with PLC isozymes were also investigated in RASMCs. H_2O_2 (1 mM) inhibited the proliferation of RASMCs in DMEM containing 0.1% FBS and increased the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ by a 50%. In H_2O_2 -

stimulated RASMCs, the expression of PLC- δ 1 was suppressed within 1 hour, but the other PLC isozymes, β -, and γ -form were not affected. In contrast, the expression of PLC- δ 1 and PLC- γ 1 were suppressed by ionophore, A23187 (10 μ M), for 3 hr. The activity of protein kinase C (PKC) was also suppressed in same trend of PLC- δ 1, not PLC- γ 1.

Conclusions The H₂O₂-induced Ca²⁺ overload may differentially suppress the expression of PLC isozymes in RASMCs and the decreased expression of PLC- δ 1 subsequently inhibited the PKC activity. These results suggest that the PLC/PKC-regulated Ca²⁺ homeostasis is the crucial targets of exogenous ROS in H₂O₂-stimulated RASMC.

A role of phospholipase C isozymes in H₂O₂-induced oxidative stress of rat aortic smooth muscle cells

I.Introduction

The reactive oxygen species may be involved in the regulation of vascular tone^{1,2}. The primary trigger of smooth muscle cell contraction is a rise in cytoplasmic [Ca²⁺]₁³. Changes in intracellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis are thought to play important roles in smooth muscle cell responses to oxidants⁴. Both neutrophils and reactive oxygen species (ROS) play important roles in ischemia/ reperfusion-induced cardiac abnormalities^{5,6}. Low levels of ROS are regularly produced during a process of physiological metabolisms, and every cell contains several enzymes such as catalase, glutathione peroxidase, and superoxide dismutase, which scavenge ROS from cell⁷. High level of ROS are generated from a variety of sources such as xanthine oxidase system, the leakage of electrons from mitochondria, the cyclooxygenase pathway of arachidonic acid metabolism, and

the respiratory burst of phagocytic cells, and induce a variety of tissue damages⁸.

H₂O₂ is often used as an experimental source of ROS. ROS has numerous intracellular targets, including second-messenger pathways, L-type Ca²⁺ channels, K⁺ channels, ion transporters, and contractile proteins⁹ (Fig. 1). In cardiac myocytes, H₂O₂ have been shown to inhibit Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ pumps, accelerate rundown of L-type Ca²⁺ currents, activate Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchange, deplete internal caffeine-sensitive Ca²⁺ stores by inhibiting the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase, and activate Na⁺-H⁺ exchange by inducing mitogen-activated protein kinases^{10,11}. These effects are independent of metabolic inhibition, since the mitochondrial uncoupler, carbonylcyanide-p-trifluoro-methoxy- phenylhydrazone, or the metabolic inhibitor, 2-deoxyglucose, do not mimic the effects of ROS^{12,13}.

Although Ca^{2+} -overload in smooth muscle cells can be induced by ROS by directly affecting the Ca^{2+} handling proteins or indirectly by inducing membrane lipid peroxidation, this may not be the only mechanism for the occurrence of Ca^{2+} -overload and subsequent cell injury¹⁴. Enhanced adrenergic stimulation as that observed during reperfusion of the ischemic heart may also increase the uptake of extracellular Ca^{2+} into the myocardium and be another factor contributing to

Ca²⁺-overload^{15,16,17}. Proteolytic degradation may also contribute to Ca²⁺overload because several cellular proteins including sarcoplasmic recticular Ca²⁺pump ATPase are considered to be peroxidase, may also be targets for the Ca²⁺activated proteases; further studies are needed to confirm these possibilities. Thus due to the interactive nature of oxidative stress and Ca²⁺-overload, it is rather difficult to decide whether these pathogenetic substrates for the Ca²⁺activating proteases (calpains)¹⁸. The endogenous antioxidant proteins such as superoxide dismutase, catalase and glutathione factors are causally related to complementary mechanisms of cellular injury.

Phospholipase C (PLC) hydrolyzes phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) located in cellular membranes to generate diacylglycerol (DG) and inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP₃), of which diacylglycerol and inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP₃), serve as intracellular messengers for protein kinase C (PKC) activation and intracellular Ca²⁺ mobilization, respectively¹⁹ (Fig.2). In cardiomyoctes, PLC isozymes can be activated by raised Ca²⁺ in the presence of added agonist, the possibility was addressed that Ca²⁺ overload was responsible for the observed



Fig.1. Redox-sensitive signaling pathways in vascular cells. Dotted lines depict pathways in which a relationship has been suggested but not proved. PAF indicates platelet-activating factor; PLC, phospholipase C; PLD, phsopholipase D; DG, diacylglycerol; AA, arachidonic acid; PKC, protein kinase C; PI3K, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase; PKB, protein kinase B; and SAPK, stress-activating protein kinases.

release of ${\rm IP_3}^{20}$. The phosphorylation and activation of the plasma membrane ${\rm Ca}^{2*}$ pump was carried out by PKC activated with DG. The control of PLC activity is thus one of the earliest key events in the regulation of various cell functions. To date, three major types of phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C species named β_i , γ_i and δ_i , have been characterized by a comparision of amino acid sequences and each type included multiple subtypes²¹.

The PLC β family is activated by G_q subfamily of heterotrimeric G proteins to induce cardiac hypertrophy and failure. Receptors that activate this G_q-PLC β pathway include those bradykinin, angiotensin II, thromboxane A2, vasopressin and acetylcholine²². The PLC γ family is regulated by tyrosine phosphorylation in response to polypeptide growth factors, such as plateletederived growth factor, epidermal growth factor, nerve growth factor, and hepatocyte growth factor. Tyrosine phosphorylation of PLC γ promotes its association with actin components of the cytoskeleton¹⁹. PLC γ family is also receptors coupled to PLD, cytosolic phospholipase A₂, or Pl3-kinase in the absence of tyrosine phosphorylation. Although PLC δ family has four distinct activated directly by several lipid-derived second messengers and indirectly the



Fig.2. Generation of intracellular Ca^{2+} signals. The ER indicates endoplasmic reticulum; SR, sarcoplasmic reticulum; IP₃R, 1,4,5-triphosphate receptor; RyR, ryanodine receptor; VGC, voltage-gated Ca^{2+} channels.

isoforms, the mechanism by which these isozymes are coupled to membrane receptors remains unclear. It has been reported that PLC δ 1was directly activated by a new class of GTP-binding protein (G_h, transglutaminase II) through coupling with α_1 -adrenergic receptor²³, This PLC δ 1-G_h pathway thus may be an important player in the signaling pathway that regulates calcium homeostasis and modulates physiological processes, such as smooth muscle tone (i.e., blood pressure) and neurotransmitter release²⁴. PLC isozymes are activated by intracellualr Ca²⁺, but PLC- δ isozymes are more sensitive to Ca²⁺ compared to the other isozymes. An increase in the intracellular concentration of Ca²⁺ to a level sufficient to fix the C2 domain of PLC- δ might therefore trigger its activation²⁵. Thus, activation of PLC- δ isozymes might occur secondarily to receptor-mediated activation of other PLC isozymes or Ca²⁺ channels.

In this study, we demonstrate that the acute exposure to high doses of H_2O_2 caused Ca^{2+} -overload in rat aortic smooth muscle cells and a possible link PLC isozymes activation and Ca^{2+} homeostasis at an increase cytosolic Ca^{2+} .

II. METHODS

1. Isolation and Culture of RASMCs

RASMCs were isolated by a modification of the method of Chamley-Campbell²⁶. The thoracic aortas from 6-8 weeks-old Sprague-Dawley rats were removed and transferred on ice in serum-free DMEM containing 1% penicillin/ streptomycin. The aorta was free from connective tissue, transferred into a petri dish containing 5 ml of an enzyme dissociation mixture containing DMEM with 1 mg/ml of collagenase type I (Sigma, Deisenhofen, Germany) and 0.5 mg/ml elastase (Sigma, Deisenhofen, Germany) and was incubated for 30 min at 37 . Then the arota was transferred into DMEM and the adventitia was stripped off forceps under a binocular microscope. The aorta was transferred into a plastic tube containing 5 ml of the enzyme dissociation mixture and was incubated for 2 h at 37 . The suspension was centrifuged (1500 rpm for 10 min) and the pellet was resuspended in DMEM with 10% FBS. Cells were cultured over several passages (up to 10). RASMCs were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 100 IU/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomysin in 75-cm² flasks at 37 in a

humified atmosphere of 95% air and 5% CO₂ (Forma Scientific, Inc., USA).

2. Cell Survival and Proliferation Assay

The proliferative response of RASMCs was determined using a tetrazolium-based colorimetric assay²⁷. Before all the experiments, confluent RASMCs were rendered quiescent by culturing for 48 hours in 0.5% v/v FBS instead of 5%. The assay is dependent on the reduction of tetrazolium salt WST-1, which results in formation of a dark red formazan product, by various mitochondrial dehydrogenases of viable cells. Briefly, Premix WST-1 (10 µl/well) was added to RASMCs that were cultured in a 96-well culture dish (3X10⁴/well) and pretreated with a control medium or media containing varying concentrations of H₂O₂ for 72 hr. The absorbance of the samples was measured at 450 nm using a microplate reader against a background control. Cell viability was determined with the trypan blue dye-exclusion method using a hemocytometer. RASMCs were seeded in 24-well culture plates (2.5 X 10⁴ cells/well; well diameter 12 mm). After cells were further incubated in the DMEM medium containing 0.5% serum for 48 hours, cells were treated with H₂O₂ (0-2 mM) for 48 hours. Cells were

then harvested from dishes using a 0.1% w/v trypsin solution, and the viability was examined by the trypan blue dye exclusion test. The number of viable cells was estimated by microscopic cell counting using a hemacytometer.

3. Treatment of Cells with hydrogen peroxide

On day 3 following isolation, RASMCs were further incubated with DMEM containing 0.2% FBS for the complete serum-starvation. The cells were then rinsed twice with PBS. H_2O_2 , at various concentrations, was added to medium and incubated with cells for various time intervals. For negative controls, cells were incubated with medium alone for equivalent amounts of time. All cells were then washed twice with PBS and either lysed in protein 1% Triton X-100 lysis buffer and stored at -20 for immunoblot analysis.

4. Ca2+ measurement

Intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration was measured in freshly isolated and cultured single rat aortic smooth muscle cells using fura2-AM photometry²⁸. Briefly, cells were loaded with cell permeable ester (acetoxymethyl, AM) of fura-2 by

incubating the cells in DMEM containing 2µM fura-2/acetoxymethyl ester. After 60 min at 37 , cells were centrifuged, washed twice, and resuspended in DMEM. Cells were then equilibrated for 10 min in the dark at room temperature, centrifuged, and resuspended in Ca²⁺-free PBS. Cells were transferred into an experiment chamber and, depending on the experimental protocol used. Ca²⁺ concentration in each experiment is expressed as the 340:380 excitation ratio at 510-nm emission (F_{340} : F_{380} ;fura-2).

5. Imaging of Intracellular ROS generation

Intracellular oxidant stress was monitored by measuring changes in fluorescence resulting from intracellular probe oxidation²⁹. H₂DCFDA (1-10 μ M, Molecular Probes) enters the cells and can be oxidized by ROS including superoxide and/or hydroxyl radical to yield 2',7'-dichlorofluorescein (DCFH). Fluorescence intensity was detected on UV wavelength.

6. Immunoblot analysis

Immnoblotting was performed as described previously²³. Proteins were

fractionated by sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) polyacrylamide gel (10-12%) electrophoresis and then electrotransferred to methanol-treated polyvinylidene difluoride membranes. The blotted membranes were washed twice with water and blocked by incubation with 5% nonfat dried milk in PBS buffer (8.0 g NaCl, 0.2 g KCl, 1.5 g NaH₂PO₄, 0.2 g K₂HPO₄ per liter). After a 1 hour incubation at room temperature, the membranes were probed overnight at 4 with monoclonal antibodies to PLC β , PLC δ , and PLC γ followed by goat anti-rabbit IgG-peroxidase and detected by ECL.^e

III. RESULTS

1. Effect of H₂O₂ concentration on the proliferation of RASMCs

The acute treatment of H_2O_2 modulates so different kinds of intracellular signal transduction depending on concentration used. To investigate the concentration of H_2O_2 as second messengers, the proliferation of RASMCs was determined in a manner of dose-response. In Fig. 3, the proliferation of H_2O_2

inhibited the proliferation. The effective H_2O_2 concentration producing the cell death was 1 mM based on the proliferation of RASMCS. To investigate the production of intracellular ROS at 1 mM H_2O_2 , the cells were treated with a molecular probe (H_2DCFDA , 10 μ M) in time course. In Fig.4, the fluorescence intensity of H_2O_2 -treated cells was 30% higher compared to the untreated cells.

2. Increase of intracellular Ca²⁺ in H₂O₂-stimulated RASMCs

Generally, ROS can induce the Ca²⁺ overload by directly affecting the Ca²⁺ handling proteins. To examine which concentrations of extracellular H₂O₂ induce Ca²⁺ overload in RASMCs, cells were loaded with cell permeable ester (acetoxymethyl, AM) of fura 2 by incubating the cells in DMEM containing 2 μ M fura 2/acetoxymethyl ester. In Fig. 5, the intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration was increased by 1.5-fold after loading 500 μ M H₂O₂, indicating that the addition of extracellular H₂O₂ significantly changed intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration the rate at which the oxidation of DCF took place.



Fig. 3. Effect of H_2O_2 concentration on the proliferation of RASMCs. Quiescent RASMCs (2.7 X 10⁴ cells per well) were stimulated with various concentrations of H_2O_2 . After 72 h incubation, cells were harvested and the viability examined by trypan blue dye exclusion test. The number of viable cells was estimated using a hemocytometer.



Fig. 4. Photograph of intracellular ROS induced with extracellular H_2O_2 . H_2DCFDA (1-10 μ M, Molecular Probes) enters the cells and can be oxidized into2',7'-dichlorofluorescein (DCFH). Fluorescence intensity was detected on UV wavelength.

To assess the involvement of PLC isozymes in H_2O_2 -induced Ca^{2+} overload of RASMCs, the expression levels of PLC isozymes were measured for variable times with 1 mM H_2O_2 . In Fig. 6, the expression of PLC- δ 1 was significantly decreased within 1 hr but that of PLC- γ 1 and PLC- β 1 was not affected, indicating that the response for decreased expression of PLC- δ 1 was consistent with the production of intracellular ROS and Ca^{2+} overload. The expression level of PLC- δ 1 was recovered after 1 hr in H_2O_2 -induced RASMCs.

3. Differential expression of PLC isozymes in H₂O₂-stimulated RASMCs

4. Inhibitory effect of PLC- $\delta 1$ on protein kinase C activation

To examine whether the decreased expression of PLC- δ 1 is involved in PKC activity in H₂O₂-induced RASMCs, the activity of PKC was measured with anti-phpsho-PKC. In Fig. 7, the activity of PKC was decreased in the same tendency



Fig. 5. Effect of H_2O_2 on intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration. Cells were loaded with cell permeable ester (acetoxymethyl, AM) of fura-2 by incubating the cells in DMEM containing 2µM fura-2/acetoxymethyl ester. After 60 min at 37 , cells were equilibrated for 10 min in the dark at room temperature, centrifuged, and resuspended in Ca²⁺-free PBS. Cells were transferred into an experiment chamber and, depending on the experimental protocol used. Ca²⁺ concentration in each experiment is expressed as the 340:380 excitation ratio at 510-nm emission (F_{340} : F_{380} ;fura-2).



Fig. 6. The expression patterns of PLC isozymes in H_2O_2 -treated RASMCs. Confluent cells (approx. 7 X 10⁶/10 cm diameter dish) was treated with 1 mM H_2O_2 for the times indicated. After H_2O_2 treatments, 100 µg of cell lysates was subjected to SDS-PAGE (10%) and analyzed with western blot.



Fig. 7. Effect of extracelluar H_2O_2 on PKC activity in RASMCs. Confluent cells (approx. 7 X 10⁶/10 cm diameter dish) was treated with 1 mM H_2O_2 for the times indicated. After H_2O_2 treatments, 100 µg of cell lysates was subjected to SDS-PAGE (10%) and analyzed with western blot.

of expression patterns of PLC δ 1. It suggests that inositol 1,4,5triphosphate and 1,2-diacylglycerol, produced by PLC, were decreased, leading to contribute the decreased activity of PKC.

5. Suppression of PLC-δ1 in ionopore-treated RASMCs

To further confirm the PLC- δ 1/PKC response for Ca²⁺ overload by exogenous H₂O₂ in RASMCs, the cells were treated with ionophore, A23187 that is useful for increasing intracellular Ca²⁺ levels. After incubation of 3hr, the expression levels of PLC- δ 1 and PLC- γ 1 were decreased, but PLC- β 1 was not affected (Fig. 8). It suggested that the PLC- δ 1/PKC response by extracellualr H₂O₂ is associated with Ca²⁺ overload.



Fig. 8. Effect of ionophore on expression of PLC isozymes. Confluent cells (approx. 7 X $10^6/10$ cm diameter dish) was treated with ionophore A23187 (10 μ M) for 3 hour. After ionophore treatments, 100 μ g of cell lysates was subjected to SDS-PAGE (10%) and analyzed with western blot.

IV. DISCUSSION

Oxidative stress resulting from ROS generation can lead to a decrease in calcium responsiveness of myofilaments either directly, by oxidative modification of contractile proteins (e.g., oxidation of critical thiol groups), or indirectly, by causing Ca²⁺ overload. In general, a whole range of cell functions is regulated by the free cytosolic Ca²⁺ concentration. The Ca²⁺ ions needed to control the activity of the cell can by supplied to the cytosol from intracellular Ca2+ stores or from the extracellular space. Ca²⁺ is released from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) or the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) through two types of Ca²⁺ channels: inositol 1,4,5triphosphate receptors (IP₃R) and ryanodine receptors (RyR). IP₃ is split off from its precursor PIP₂ when cell-surface receptors are activated by extracellular agonists. This reaction is catalyzed by phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C (PLC) isozymes and results in the generation of two intracellular messengers, diacylglycerol (DAG) and IP₃. These messengers then promote the activation of protein kinase C and the release of Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores, respectively. IP3 is further converted by the actions of several distinct kinases and

phosphatases to a variety of inositol phosphates, some of which are also implicated in intracellular signaling. In this study, we investigated whether the expressions of PLC isozymes were affected by acute exposure of extracellular H_2O_2 in RASMCs. As shown in Fig.6, the PLC- δ 1 was affected by intracellular ROS induced with extracellular H_2O_2 . Subsequently, decreased expression of PLC- δ 1affected the activity of PKC activated by DAG. It shows that extracellular H_2O_2 can induce intracellular ROS, leading to the Ca²⁺ overload. This Ca²⁺ overload may be the result of changes in intracellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis that is regulated by PLC- δ 1/PKC. In the case of ionophore, A23187, the direct increase of intracellular Ca²⁺ significantly suppressed the expression of PLC- γ 1 as well as PLC- δ 1 (Fig. 8). It suggests that the degree of increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ may be different between ROS and ionophore.

V. CONCLUSIONS

The H₂O₂-induced Ca²⁺ overload may differentially suppress the expression of PLC isozymes in RASMCs and the decreased expression of PLC- δ 1 subsequently inhibited the PKC activity. These results suggest that the PLC/PKC-regulated Ca²⁺ homeostasis is the crucial targets of extracellular ROS in H₂O₂-stimulated RASMC.

REFERENCES

- Sandirasegarane L, Gopalakrishnan V. Vanndate increases cytosolic free calcium in rat aortic smooth muscle cells. Life Sci. 1995;56:169-174.
- Lowe H, Baeger I, Blasig IE, Haseloff RF. Oxygen radicals attenuate the contractility of skinned muscle fibres from the pig myocardium. Pharmazie. 1994 ;49(11):845-9.
- MacFarlane NG, Miller DJ. Effects of the reactive oxygen species hypochlorous acid and hydrogen peroxide on force production and calcium sensitivity of rat cardiac myofilaments. Pflugers Arch. 1994;428(5-6):561-8.
- Miyawaki H, Wang Y, Ashraf M. Oxidant stress with hydrogen peroxide attenuates calcium paradox injury: role of protein kinase C and ATPsensitive potassium channel. Cardiovasc Res. 1998;37(3):691-9.
- Dhalla NS, Temsah RM, Netticadan T. Role of oxidative stress in cardiovascular disease. J Hypertens. 2000;18(6);655-673.
- 6. Perrin C, Vergely C, Zeller M, Maupoil V, Rochette L. Demonstration of secondary free radicals and the role of calpain in functional changes

associated with the myocardial ischemia-reperfusion sequence. Arch Mal Coeur Vaiss. 2000; 93(8):931-936.

- Miller DJ, MacFarlane NG. Intracellular effects of free radicals and reactive oxygen species in cardiac muscle. J Hum Hypertens. 1995;9(6):465-73.
- 8. Goldhaber JI, Weiss JN. Oxygen free radicals and cardiac reperfusion abnormalities. *Hypertension*. 1992;20:118-127.
- Matucci R, Bianchi B, Ottaviani MF, Campana S, Bennardini F, Franconi F. Carbon centered radicals reduce the density of L-type calcium channels in rat cardiac membranes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1996;223(1):85-90.
- Goldhaber JI. Free radicals enhance Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchange in ventricular myocytes. Am J Physiol. 1996;271:H823-33.
- Morris TE, Sulakhe PV. Sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+)-pump dysfunction in rat cardiomyocytes briefly exposed to hydroxyl radicals. Free Radic Biol Med. 1997;22(1-2):37-47.
- Xiao CY, Hara A, Hashizume H, Tanaka K, Abiko Y. Both D-cis- and L-cisdiltiazem attenuate hydrogen peroxide-induced derangements in rat hearts. Eur J Pharmacol. 1999;374(3):387-98.

- Toraason M, Heinroth-Hoffmann I, Richards D, Woolery M, Hoffmann P. H2O2-induced oxidative injury in rat cardiac myocytes is not potentiated by 1,1,1-trichloroethane, carbon tetrachloride, or halothane. J Toxicol Environ Health. 1994;41(4):489-507.
- Marban E, Koretsune Y, Corretti M, Chacko VP, Kusuoka H. Calcium and its role in myocardial cell injury during ischemia and reperfusion. Circulation. 1989;80:17-22.
- Sharma HS, verdouw PD, Lamers JM. Involvement of the sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium pump in myocardial contractile dysfunction: comparision between chronic pressure-overload and stunning. Cardiovasc drugs Ther. 1994;8:461-468.
- Mukherjee A, Wong TM, Buja LM, lefkowitz RJ. Beta adrenergic and muscarinic cholinergic receptors in canine myocardium. Effect of ischemia. J Clin Invest. 1979;64:1423-1428.
- Corr PB, Shayman JA, Kramer JB, Kipnis RJ. Increased alpha-adrenergic receptors in ischemic cat myocardium. A potential mediator of electrophysiological derangements. J Clin Invest. 1981;67:1232-1236.

- Yoshida K, Matoba R, Fusitani N, Onishi S. Effect of sulfhydryl group modification on age-associated alteration of actomyosin ATPase activity in human myocardium. Basic Res Cardiol. 1990;85:2-8.
- Rhee SG. Regulation of phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C. Annu Rev Biochem. 2001;70:281-312.
- Moraru II, Jones RM, Popescu LM, Engelman RM, Das DK. Prazosin reduced myocardial ischemia/reperfusion-induced Ca²⁺ overloading in rat heart by inhibiting phosphoinositide signaling. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1995;1268:1-8.
- 21. Rebecchi MJ, Pentyala SN. Structure, function, and control of phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C. Physiol Rev. 2000;80:1291-1335.
- Schnabel P, Gäs H, Nohr T, Camps M, Böhm M. Identification and characterization of G protein-regulated phospholipase C in human myocardium. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 1996;28:2419-2427.
- Hwang KC, Gray CD, Sivasubramanian N, Im MJ. Interaction site of GTP binding Gh (transglutaminase II) with phospholipase C. J Biol Chem. 1995;270:27058-27062.

- Murthy SNP, Lomasney JW, Mak EC, Lorand L. Interaction of G_h/ transglutaminase with phospholipase C 1 and GTP. *PNAS*. 1999;96:11815-11819.
- 25. Gasser RN, Klein W. Contractile failure in early myocardial ischemia: models an mechanisms. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther.* 1994;8:813-822.
- 26. Chamley-Campbell JH, Campbell GR, Ross R. The smooth muscle cell in culture. Physiol Rev 1979;59:1-61.
- Sohn YD, Lim HJ, Hwang KC, Kwon JH, Park HY, Chung KH, Cho SY, Jang YS. A Novel Recombinant Basic Fibroblast Growth Factor and Its Secretion. 2001. Biochem Bioph Res Commu. 284:931-936.